STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Beaufort County

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
SEP 29 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Opinion No. 2016-UP-182 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 20, 2016)

2012-GS-07-01536; 2012-GS-07-01537.

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES SIMMONS JR.,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001934

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Whether testimony by a pediatrician concerning statements made by the alleged child victim beyond the time and place of the alleged sexual assaults, which were not made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment and violated Petitioner's right to a fair trial, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

II. Whether a child witness was competent to testify where the record demonstrated the child witness heard voices and lacked the ability to distinguish between reality and make-believe demonstrating the child witness (1) lacked the ability to perceive the event with a substantial degree of accuracy, (2) remember the event, (3) communicate intelligibly about the event, and (4) be mindful of telling the truth?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural history

On May 30, 2013, the Beaufort County grand jury indicted Petitioner for two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree (2012-GS-07-1536 & 2012-GS-07-1537). R. 379. The case was called to trial before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen and a jury on June 18, 2013. R. 7. Mary Jordan Lempesis and Hunter Swanson Deysach represented the state, and Trasi Campbell represented Petitioner. R. 8. After deliberating for several hours, the jurors informed the judge they had reached an “impasse.” R. 347, lines 4-8; R. 370. Thereafter, the judge instructed the jurors pursuant to Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896). R. 348, line 7 – R. 351, line 22. Two hours later, the jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. R. 352, line 12 – R. 354, line 3. Judge Mullen sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment on both counts and ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 355, line 20 – R. 356, line 5; R. 381;384.

Petitioner filed a motion for new trial. R. 371. Judge Mullen presided over a hearing on the motion on October 31, 2013. R. 357. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Mullen orally denied the motion. R. 369, lines 15-16. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal, which was perfected by undersigned counsel. The Court of Appeals heard argument on March 9, 2016. On April 20, 2016, the Court affirmed Petitioner’s convictions and sentences in an unpublished opinion. State v. Simmons, 2016-UP-182 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 20, 2016); App. 1-3. Petitioner filed a timely petition for rehearing. App. 4-13. The Court of Appeals denied the petition on August 18, 2016.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

Evidence produced at trial

Petitioner is the father of Minor 1 and Minor 2, twin boys. The twins lived with a cousin, Rose Simmons, in a mobile home on heirs’ property on Saint Helena Island. R. 87, lines 3-23; R.

88, lines 12-14; R. 153, lines 16-23. Petitioner lived in the family home on the property as well. Also living in the family home were Petitioner's sister and her husband and their three children. R. 62, lines 8-15; R. 72, lines 9-12; R. 89, line 1 – R. 90, line 2; R. 92, line 19 – R. 93, line 6; R. 153, line 24 – R. 154, line 4; R. 242, lines 1-9; R. 243, lines 1-25; R. 261, line 23 – R. 262, line 22. During the time that Petitioner lived in the family home, Petitioner's girlfriend or the mother of the twins lived with him. R. 97, line 22 – R. 98, line 7; R. 102, lines 20-24; R. 249, lines 15-18; R. 250, lines 7-15; R. 163, lines 2-19; R. 278, line 1 – R. 279, line 7. Quite naturally, the twins frequently visited with Petitioner in the family home. R. 88, lines 22 -25; R. 90, lines 3-11; R. 91, lines 18-22; R. 154, lines 18-25; R. 280, lines 4-9. The home had no interior doors on the bedrooms; therefore, the family used sheets or blankets for privacy. R. 163, line 17 – R. 164, line 4; R. 247, lines 6-9; R. 254, line 22 – R. 255, line 6; R. 257, line 9 – R. 258, line 16; R. 264, line 21; R. 265, line 23.

After Petitioner moved, his great-uncle and great-aunt, Johnnie and Cynthia Simmons, began to take a more active role in the twins' lives because Rose was unable to care for them on a full-time basis due to their continued behavioral problems. R. 72, line 19 – R. 73, line 13; R. 90, line 12 – R. 91, line 11; R. 94, lines 2-5; R. 95, line 6 – R. 96, line 3; R. 99, line 25 – R. 100, line 4; R. 143, lines 1-17; R. 181, lines 7-9; R. 182, line 1 – R. 184, line 7; R. 209, lines 18-25; R. 210, lines 14-22. Soon, Johnnie and Cynthia wanted to adopt the boys. R. 96, lines 4-7; R. 100, lines 5-8; R. 185, lines 10-19; R. 211, line 25 – R. 212, line 4. However, Johnnie and Cynthia were concerned because one of the twins acted "too feminine" and the other was very dominant. R. 65, lines 16-19; R. 67, line 22 – R. 68, line 8; R. 185, line 20 – R. 186, line 5; R. 198, lines 18-24; R. 216, lines 2-23. Johnnie described Minor 1 as exhibiting "girlish mannerism[s]." R. 213, lines 5-12. Additionally, Cynthia suspected the twins had been sexually abused because she examined the

anus of Minor 1 and found it to be larger than expected.¹ R. 65, lines 20-22; R. 137, lines 9-15; R. 189, lines 2-24. Despite these suspicions, Cynthia did not consult the authorities because she feared Petitioner would stop the adoption based upon the allegations. R. 64, lines 12-17; R. 64, line 21 – R. 65, line 4. However, Cynthia took the twins to a counselor who said there was nothing wrong. R. 66, lines 1-18; R. 201, lines 23-25.

After repeated behavior problems from the twins and the finalization of the adoption, Cynthia and Johnnie confronted them about the cause of their acting out. R. 192, lines 5-7; R. 193, lines 20-25; R. 213, line 19 – R. 214, line 8. Allegedly, the twins disclosed sexual abuse during this confrontation. After the confrontation, Cynthia took the twins to the pediatrician. R. 193, lines 3-13

Minor 1, who had practiced his testimony with the prosecutor, claimed Petitioner touched Minor 1's penis and butt with his hands and made Minor 1 touch Petitioner's penis. R. 131, lines 1-20; R. 135, line 25 – R. 136, line 8. Minor 1 claimed this occurred more than once in Petitioner's room and that Minor 2 watched. R. 132, line 2 – R. 132, line 13. In response to leading questions by the prosecutor, Minor 1 claimed Petitioner touched Minor 1's penis with his mouth and put his penis in Minor 1's butt. R. 134, line 25 – R. 134, line 19. Minor 1 previously claimed Petitioner made him suck the penises of other men, but he told the prosecutor prior to trial that this never happened; however, Minor 1 told the jurors that he had remembered the night before that this had in fact occurred. R. 140, line 12-23.

Minor 2, who also practiced his testimony with the prosecutor, claimed Petitioner touched his penis with his hands. Minor 2 denied being touched anywhere else or with anything other than Petitioner's hands. R. 155, line 10 – R. 156, line 6; R. 157, lines 9-11; R. 159, lines 4-7; R. 162, line

¹ No medical personnel found Minor 1's anus to be larger than normal. R. 31, lines 11-20; R. 227, lines 1-7.

19 – R. 163, line 1. Minor 2 claimed this touching occurred in Petitioner’s bedroom, but he was unsure if it occurred at night or in the day. R. 156, lines 13-24. Dissatisfied with Minor 2’s testimony regarding the allegations of abuse, the prosecution introduced the video of his speaking with an interviewer at Hope Haven. R. 170, line 16 – R. 171, line 15; R. 175, line 7 – R. 178, line 11.

By Ms. Lempesis:

Q Dr. Simmons, can you tell me what [Minor 1] told you happened.

A I asked him, you know, *tell me what happened*. And he said, basically, his - - sorry, I'm a little nervous.

Q That's okay. Just take your time.

A Yeah. He said, basically - - basically, he said his - - his father, that he'd been watching porn, and that they had told him not to tell anybody because of their secret pact. And that I believe that his daddy had - - his father had touched his private area.

Q Touched his private area. Do you recall more specifically what [Minor 1] said?

A I believe - - I believe he said his penis.

Q Okay. And if you'd like to refer to your notes to try to refresh your memory as to what was said.

A I'm sorry. I'm just a little nervous.

Q That's fine. I think if you look at the front of your notes. Here we go.

A Okay. Here we go. Okay. That's right. That, he - - we talked, and I asked him what happened, and he said that - - I talked with them separately, and that Dad made them, and I have in quotations, quote/unquote, *Dad made them suck his penis*; and that the episode ended when he was - - when the custody of Mr. Johnnie Simmons. And that, also, they had been watching porno, and he said not to tell them because of the secret pact with Dad.

R. 29 line 8 – R. 30, line 4.

What is clear from the record is that when Dr. Simmons began to elaborate on what Minor 1 said, Petitioner objected to any statements beyond time and place. R. 29, lines 10-13. The prosecution argued the out-of-court statements were admissible under a hearsay exception, but was

unable to articulate a particular rule. The trial judge *assisted* the prosecution by offering an exception: "For medical diagnosis?" R. 29, lines 14-17.² The prosecutor quickly agreed with the judge's suggestion, and the judge ruled the hearsay statement by Minor 1 admissible. R. 29, lines 18-20.

Thereafter, Dr. Simmons testified that Minor 1 said "his father, that he'd been watching porn, and that they had told him not to tell anybody because of their secret pact. And that I believe that his daddy had - - his father had touched his private area." R. 30, lines 1-8. Dr. Simmons then read from his notes:

Okay. Here we go. Okay. That's right. That, he - - we talked, and I asked him what happened, and he said that - - I talked with them separately, and that Dad made them, and I have in quotations, quote/unquote, *Dad made them suck his penis*; and that the episode ended when he was - - when the custody of Mr. Johnnie Simmons. And that, also, they had been watching porno, and he said not to tell them because of the secret pact with Dad.

R. 30, lines 17-24.

Dr. Simmons examined Minor 1 and Minor 2 looking for signs of sexual abuse, but found none. Both boys had normal physical exams. R. 31, lines 15-20.

Discussion

All criminal defendants are entitled to a fair trial. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; S.C. Const. Art. 1, § 14. The Rules of Evidence are designed to ensure a fair trial occurs. One of the most important Rules of Evidence concerns the rule against hearsay; however, many exceptions to hearsay exist. A statement is not hearsay if the declarant testifies at the trial, is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is "consistent with the declarant's testimony in a

² Petitioner raised the objection to Dr. Simmons' testimony in the motion for new trial. R. 371. During the hearing on the motion for new trial, Judge Mullen recalled that she had admitted the testimony pursuant to Rule 803(4), SCRE. Judge Mullen found no basis to grant a new trial based upon her ruling that the statement of Minor 1 through Dr. Simmons was admissible. R. 364, lines 3-12; R. 369, lines 15-16.

criminal sexual conduct case ... where the declarant is the alleged victim and the statement is limited to the time and place of the incident.” SCRE 801(d)(1)(D). This Court made clear the necessity of the statement remaining limited to time and place of the alleged incident. Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 20, 443 S.E.2d 566, 568 (1994). If the statement goes beyond time and place, then it is hearsay and in order to be admissible, it must fall within one of the exceptions to the general rule against hearsay. State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 497, 492 S.E.2d 408, 412 (Ct. App. 1997)(citing Rule 802, SCRE).

One of those exceptions to the general rule against hearsay is when a statement is “made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.” Id. at 501, 492 S.E.2d at 414 (quoting Rule 803(4), SCRE). “The rationale for the exception is that a patient has a strong motivation to be truthful about information that will form the basis of his diagnosis and treatment, making statements in this regard inherently trustworthy.” Tracy A. Bateman, Admissibility of Statements Made for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment as Hearsay Exception under Rule 803(4) of the Uniform Rules of Evidence, 38 A.L.R.5th 433.

The Court of Appeals held that “a statement that the victim had been raped or that the assailant had hurt the victim in a particular area would be pertinent to the diagnosis and treatment of the victim.” Burroughs, 328 S.C. at 501, 492 S.E.2d at 414. However, the testimony of a nurse that the alleged victim of a sexual assault told the nurse that her assailant asked for a hug before the assault “in no way can be viewed as ‘reasonably pertinent’ to the victim’s diagnosis or treatment.” Id.

The Court found the testimony of the nurse prejudicial to the defendant because it corroborated the victim's testimony in an extremely important way – the prosecution had presented two witnesses to testify the defendant had assaulted them after asking for a hug. Id. at 414-415, 328 S.C. at 502-503. This Court recognized that “[w]hile the victim’s statement that Burroughs asked her for a hug might be an insignificant detail when considering her story alone, it becomes a very important detail after considering the stories of the other victims.” Therefore, the improper corroboration of the alleged victim’s testimony resulting from the erroneous admission of the testimony of the nurse was not harmless. Id. at 415, 328 S.C. at 503.

This Court explained that a patient’s history as told to the doctor is admissible only as to the information upon which the doctor relied in reaching his professional opinion. State v. Brown, 286 S.C. 445, 446, 334 S.E.2d 816, 816-817 (1985)(citing Gentry v. Watkins-Carolina Trucking Co., 249 S.C. 316, 154 S.E.2d 112 (1967)). In Brown, the doctor told the jury that the child-patient stated “Mr. Carl” performed certain sex acts on her. This Court held defense counsel’s objection to the perpetrator’s identity was not necessary for diagnosis or treatment should have been sustained. Id. at 446, 334 S.E.2d at 817. Further, this Court stated “[t]he perpetrator’s identity would rarely, if ever, be a factor upon which the doctor relied in diagnosing or treating the victim.” Id. at 447, 334 S.E.2d at 817. Therefore, “[a] doctor’s testimony as to history should include only those facts related to him by the victim upon which he relied in reaching his medical conclusions. The doctor’s testimony should never be used as a tool to prove facts properly proved by other witnesses.” Id.

In Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 19, 443 S.E.2d 566, 568 (1994), this Court found trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to testimony by an uncle that the alleged child victim told the uncle that Jolly had abused her. Trial counsel had objected to a social worker testifying that the alleged victim made a prior statement that Jolly had abused her, but failed to

object to the uncle's testimony. Id. On direct appeal, Jolly challenged the trial judge's decision to allow the social worker to testify to the hearsay statement. No decision was made as to the error of the ruling because no objection had been made to the uncle's testimony making the social worker's testimony cumulative to the uncle's testimony and the alleged victim's testimony. Id. This Court reiterated the rule that in criminal sexual conduct cases, evidence from other witnesses that the alleged victim complained of a sexual assault is admissible in corroboration limited to the time and place of the assault and excluding details or particulars. Id. at 20, 443 S.E.2d at 568. This Court went on to hold that "[i]mproper corroboration testimony that is merely cumulative to the victim's testimony, however, cannot be harmless, because it is precisely this cumulative effect which enhances the devastating impact of improper corroboration." Id. at 21, 443 S.E.2d at 569 (emphasis in original). Thus, this Court held that had the uncle's testimony been properly objected, the appellate court would not have held the social worker's testimony was harmless and the outcome of the direct appeal would have been different. Id.

Addressing this claim, the Court of Appeals found the error to be harmless. See App. 2. However, a careful review of the record and governing case law reveals the testimony could *not* have been harmless. The doctor's testimony revealed (1) the perpetrator's identity, (2) the alleged sex act, (3) the claim the two watched pornography together, and (4) that the two entered a secret pact not to reveal the information. Minor 1's disclosures to Dr. Simmons far exceeded what was needed for medical diagnosis and treatment. In fact, given Minor 1's age, it is unlikely Minor 1 was giving *any* information to Dr. Simmons to assist in diagnosis and treatment. Therefore, the public policy basis for Rule 803(4), SCRE – that a patient tells the doctor the truth in order to receive accurate treatment – was not present here. Further, Dr. Simmons made no diagnosis and administered no treatment based on Minor 1's statements; therefore, none of Minor 1's statements

to Dr. Simmons fall within the exception created by the Rules. Minor 1 allegedly told Dr. Simmons that he was made to suck his father's penis – an activity for which no testing or examination could corroborate. Without question, Minor 1's disclosures of (1) watching pornographic movies and (2) having a secret pact with Petitioner were completely unrelated to medical diagnosis or treatment. At a minimum, Minor 1's disclosure of the name and/or relationship of the person who allegedly assaulted him were unnecessary for medical diagnosis and treatment. The testimony was used to corroborate and bolster the testimony of the complaining witnesses – the solicitor's closing argument demonstrates exactly how prejudicial Dr. Simmons' testimony was.

The prosecutor's theme during closing argument – consistent statements by the twins regarding the abuse – highlighted the prejudicial nature of Dr. Simmons' testimony regarding the identity of the abuser. Specifically, the prosecutor told the jurors to think about “their consistent stories, their consistent accounts of what their father did to them.” R. 312, lines 15-19. Thereafter, the prosecutor recounted the witnesses who told the jury about statements made by the twins concerning alleged abuse, including the statements of Dr. Simmons:

And the first one we heard on the stand was this account that [Minor 1] gave to Dr. Simmons, ..., the first account we heard is that [Minor 1] told Dr. Simmons that his dad had touched his penis, and his dad had made him suck his penis, and that they had a secret pact, and that his dad was making them watch porn, pornography.

R. 312, line 19 – R. 313, line 1.

The prosecutor did not stop there; she emphasized to the jury that Minor 1's statement to Dr. Simmons was “consistent with the other statements that [Minor 1] gave to both the interviewer at Hope Haven” and to the jurors. R. 313, lines 2-4. Repeatedly, the prosecutor told the jurors to “think about the consistencies” and that Minor 1 was consistent with his accounts. R. 317, lines 2-20; R. 323, lines 23-25; R. 326, lines 10-19; R. 326, lines 20-23; R. 327, line 8. The prosecutor informed the jurors that the judge would instruct them that “[t]he victims' statements in this case

need not be corroborated. However, you didn't just hear from [Minor 1] and [Minor 2]. You heard from Kristin Dalton, the nurse practitioner; from Dr. Simmons; from Investigator Fraser; from Cynthia and Johnnie; from Rose." R. 329, lines 8-12. Dr. Simmons' testimony of hearsay statements made by Minor 1 served to corroborate Minor 1's testimony in such a way to violate Appellant's constitutional right to a fair trial and could *not* be deemed harmless.

II. The child witness was not competent to testify where the record demonstrated the child witness heard voices and lacked the ability to distinguish between reality and make-believe demonstrating the child witness (1) lacked the ability to perceive the event with a substantial degree of accuracy, (2) remember the event, (3) communicate intelligibly about the event, and (4) be mindful of telling the truth.

Relevant facts

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