STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal From Beaufort County  
Hon. Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2016-001934  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

OCT 25 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The State,

Respondent,

v.

James Simmons, Jr.,

Petitioner.

\_\_\_\_\_  
Opinion No. 2016-UP-182 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 20, 2016)  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

\_\_\_\_\_  
ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. Petitioner's issue regarding the testimony of the child victims' pediatrician is clearly not preserved for review on appeal and never should have been addressed by the Court of Appeals. Further, the issue is without merit as the testimony was for purpose of medical diagnosis. Finally, any error is entirely harmless in light of the cumulative testimony in the record.**

The Court of Appeals correctly found the issue regarding whether the pediatrician's testimony went outside the scope of statements necessary for medical purposes was not preserved and the Court should have ended its analysis at preservation. Further, the testimony did not constitute hearsay because it was properly admitted for medical diagnosis purposes, especially in light of the fact the pediatrician also provided treatment regarding the child victims' behavioral issues. Finally, any possible error in the admission of the testimony was entirely harmless given the cumulative evidence in the record.

Dr. James Simmons was called as the first witness at trial and was qualified as an expert in the area of pediatric medicine. He testified that he treated Victims from the ages of eight months until about one and one-half years before trial. He diagnosed Victims with attention deficit disorder when they were around the age of seven and prescribed medication for the condition. He also provided a diagnosis of possible opposition defiance disorder but no other mental illness for either Victim. (R. p. 22- 24; 45). Dr. Simmons recalled treating one of the victims for an irritated penis, uncontrollable bowels, and abdominal pain. (R. pp. 25 - 26). He opined that an irritated penis, uncontrollable bowels and abdominal pain could be the result of sexual abuse. (R. p. 27). He outlined classic textbook symptoms of sexual abuse to include a general behavior change, inappropriate behavior in school and urinary or stool incontinence. (R. p. 27). He stated that he saw the Victims in September 2010 for sexual abuse. (R. pp. 27 - 28).

After speaking with Victims' parents, Dr. Simmons spoke with Victim 1 alone, asked what happened, and referred Victim 1 for a forensic examination. (R. p. 28). At trial, Dr. Simmons was asked: "And Doctor, can you tell me what - - in talking to [Victim 1] what he told you happened." Petitioner then objected stating: "Your Honor, I object. It's hearsay. It's objectionable under 803. And certainly, he could limit it to the child's disclosure of date and time, and that's it." (R.29). The State then explained the testimony was being admitted pursuant to a hearsay exception and the court interposed "For medical diagnosis?" The State responded "purpose of medical diagnosis, exactly." The trial court's response was "You can go ahead." (R.29). In effect, the trial court ruled that testimony was admissible as long as it met the medical diagnosis exception.

Thereafter, Dr. Simmons testified that Victim 1 reported that when he was in the custody of Rose Simmons, they were watching "porn" and Petitioner made "them suck his penis." Dr. Simmons testified that Victim 1 reported a secret pact with Petitioner not to tell anyone. (R. p. 30, lines 1 – 24). Upon receipt of this information, Dr. Simmons terminated the discussion so as not to imprint Victim 1 with ideas. (R. p. 31; 32). Petitioner **never objected** when Dr. Simmons offered this specific testimony as exceeding the scope of Rule 803(4), SCRE. He never maintained the testimony regarding watching pornography or having a pact with the Petitioner exceeded 803(4)'s exception and was still hearsay.

Dr. Simmons also testified that he conducted a physical examination of Victims but found no physical signs of trauma, which he opined is common. Over objection, Dr. Simmons testified as an expert that the lack of physical findings it is not uncommon because the areas of the body in question heal quickly, the offender might not use anything that would leave marks or

injury, or the abuse is chronic. (R. p. 33; 47). Law enforcement authorities were contacted. (R. p. 31 – 32; 47).

Dr. Simmons was cross-examined by Petitioner on his medical records respecting the Victims and the family history taken. He testified that his records reflect that the Victims' mother suffers from schizophrenia and that in 2011 he increased the medication prescribed for the Victims' treatment of attention deficit disorder. In April 2012, Dr. Simmons noted a possible oppositional defiant disorder which tends to accompany attention deficit disorder. (R. p. 344, line 8 – p. 35, line 8). In 2004, Victim 2 was seen for constipation. (R. p. 35, lines 9 - 21). His records also reflect reports that Victim 2 was stealing medication from the school nurse and was seeing a therapist in May or June of 2011. His notes further reflect that in 2011, Victim 2 was not taking medication for attention deficit disorder and was having difficulty interacting with his peers but in late 2010, Victim 2 was not having difficulty sleeping or experiencing behavior problems. (R. p. 36, line 7 – p. 40, line 15). Dr. Simmons testified on cross-examination that Victim 1 reported that he "learned some faggot stuff." (R. 42, lines 4-11). Dr. Simmons last treated the Victims on November 22, 2011. (R. p. 43, lines 10-11).

Beaufort County Sheriff's investigator Jeremiah Fraser was called as the second witness and testified, in pertinent part, that based upon his investigation and interviews, Petitioner was identified as the suspect in the allegations of sexual abuse and that the sexual abuse occurred in the home on the family property on Saint Helena Island. (R. p. 54, line 5 – p. 55, line 16; p. 61, lines 10 – p. 62, line 25). On cross-examination by Petitioner, Fraser testified that Petitioner sexually abused the Victim 1 by forcing him to perform oral sex on his friends and on each other. (R. p. 97, line 2 – p. 73, line 13; p. 84, lines 1 - 10). On redirect examination Fraser recounted

the Victims' description of Petitioner penetrating their anuses with his penis and making them engage in acts of oral sex. (R. pp. 784, lines 1 - 18).

A pediatric nurse practitioner, who examined the Victims, testified without objection<sup>1</sup> that Victim 1 disclosed multiple episodes of forced oral copulation, penile/anal penetration and exposure to pornography while living "over there." She stated that Victim 1 identified Petitioner as the perpetrator of the sexual abuse. Petitioner raised no objection to the question or answer as falling outside the scope of Rule 803(4), SCRE, because it exceeded what was necessary for medical diagnosis. (R. p. 226, lines 3 - 20; p. 228, lines 1 - 19). Victim 2 disclosed oral/genital and penile/anal contact to the nurse practitioner.

On cross-examination, the pediatric nurse practitioner confirmed that she was given information that Victim 1 was being forced to perform oral sex on Petitioner and Petitioner's friends. (R. p. 235, lines 12 - 23). She additionally confirmed sources reporting that Victims were forced to perform oral sex on Petitioner and each other and were forced to watch pornographic movies. (R. p. 236, line 3 - 25).

In his post-trial motion, Petitioner merely complained that the trial court erred in allowing the pediatrician to testify to unidentified hearsay statements made by Victim 1 and Victim 2 as being in violation of Rule 803(4), SCRE. (R. p.371; R. p. 364, lines 3 - 8). In his brief to the Court of Appeals, Petitioner for the first time identifies alleged hearsay statements related by Dr. Simmons which Petitioner asserts fall outside the scope of Rule 803(4) as exceeding what was necessary for medical diagnosis. As noted above, he never contemporaneously objected to the

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner made a general pretrial motion to bar the pediatric nurse from testifying based upon a vague, inapplicable reference to State v Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). The motion was denied *in limine* when the State indicated it planned to call the pediatric nurse to testify about her physical examination of Victims and the information she received from them for purposes of medical diagnosis. The State explained that the information received by the pediatric nurse practitioner determined the scope of her examination pursuant to Rule 803(4), SCRE. Petitioner did not object in any manner when the testimony was elicited later at trial.

statements at the time they were made on the basis that the statements exceeded 803(4) and never gave the trial court the opportunity to rule on whether the statements were properly admissible under Rule 803(4).

Respondent submits that the issue is not properly preserved for appeal, and instead of merely questioning its preservation, the Court of Appeals should have found the issue not to be preserved. Petitioner failed to make a specific, contemporaneous objection to the trial court to enable the court to consider and rule upon the issue when the testimony was offered at trial. He merely generally objected prior to any testimony being offered to testimony that exceeded time or place. He never addressed the medical diagnosis exception to hearsay and never argued the testimony about which he now complains exceeded the permissible scope of Rule 803(4). His failure to contemporaneously preserve this issue for appeal precludes review by this Court. See State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 66, 406 S.E.2d 315, 327 (1991) (eliminating *in favorem vitae* review in death penalty cases and holding: “A contemporaneous objection requirement enables trial judges to make reasoned decisions by appropriately developing issues by way of argument, both for or against any particular legal proposition. This, in turn, allows potential errors to be prevented or cured.”); State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 548 S.E.2d 213 (2001) (stating that an objection must be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the purported error so that it can be understood by the trial judge); State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 377 S.E.2d 581 (1989) (stating the defendant may not argue one ground on appeal and an alternate ground on appeal). This Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari on this question because it is clearly not preserved for review on appeal.

Second, Respondent submits the information was properly admitted as an exception to the rule against hearsay. In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.

State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001). Our appellate courts give great deference when reviewing the evidentiary ruling of the trial court. The admission or exclusion of evidence is left the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Edwards, 373 S.C. 230, 644 S.E.2d 66 (Ct. App. 2007). The trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant. Id. An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling lacks evidentiary support or is controlled by an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000).

“Hearsay is an out of court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted therein.” State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 499, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006). The rule against hearsay prohibits the admission of evidence of an out of court statement to prove the truth of the matter asserted unless an exception to the rule applies. Id., citing Rules 801(c) and 802, SCRE; State v. Weaver, 361 S.C. 73, 602 S.E.2d 786 (Ct. App. 2004). Pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE, “[i]n South Carolina, a sexual assault victim’s prior statements limited to time and place of the alleged incident are not hearsay if the victim testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination.” State v. Jeffcoat, 350 S.C. 392, 395, 565 S.E.2d 321, 323 (Ct.App. 2002). The rule “allows other witnesses to testify the victim complained of the assault, but only as to ‘time and place,’ it specifically circumscribes such testimony by ‘excluding details and particulars,’ including the identity of the alleged perpetrator.” Id. at 395, 565 S.E.2d at 323. However, as an exception to hearsay, Rule 803(4), SCRE, provides that “[s]tatements made for the purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment” are not excluded at trial by the hearsay rule. To be admissible, the declarant’s motive in making the statement must be consistent with

the purpose of promoting diagnosis or treatment and the content of the statement must be such as is reasonably relied upon by a medical care provider in making a diagnosis or providing treatment. Willingham v. Crooke, 412 F.3d 553 (4th Cir. 2005). Respondent submits that the statements in question were “reasonably pertinent” to diagnosis or treatment, fall under the exception to the hearsay rule, and were properly admitted as evidence at trial.

In State v. Burroughs, the Court stated that “certainly, a statement that the victim had been raped or that the assailant had hurt the victim in a particular area would be pertinent to the diagnosis and treatment of the victim.” State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 501, 492 S.E.2d 408, 414 (Ct.App.1997). Statements of how and when abuse occurs provide the medical care examiner with specific areas and conditions to focus on for diagnosis and treatment.

The statements in question were made by Victim 1 to his pediatrician in the pediatrician’s office for the purpose of obtaining treatment for physical and emotional trauma, as well as on-going behavioral symptoms experienced by the Victims. The pediatrician treated the Victims’ physical and emotional manifestations for a number of years. In fact, it was the reoccurrence of behavior issues and acting out at school in a sexually related way that prompted the inquiry, disclosure, and examination by the pediatrician. The purpose of the report from Victim 1 was for medical diagnosis and to provide pertinent medical treatment and on-going care. The statements were critical to medical diagnosis because it enabled the pediatrician to know the areas of the Victims’ bodies to explore. The statements also were critical to assess the source and cause of emotional and behavioral symptoms and to address the measure of intervention necessary to remove the possible threat of continued assaults and to assess the impact and extent of the abuse for diagnostic purposes – not only physical trauma but emotional trauma as well. See United States v. Peneaux, 432 F.3d 882 (8th Cir. 2005) (a doctor must be able to identify physical and

emotional problems that accompany child sexual abuse). The pornography and “pact” not to report the ongoing sexual abuse reflected grooming, betrayal of trust by a parent, and possible long-term emotional abuse that accompanied the physical assaults suffered by the Victims which would direct the type of emotional treatment, or behavioral treatment related to ODD, that might be necessary. The exposure to pornography and the “pact” were possible explanations of the external sources of the Victims inappropriate behavior with other students at school and were reasonably pertinent to treatment of the Victims on-going behavioral issues. State v. Aguallo, 350 S.E.2d 76 (N.C. 1986).

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals properly concluded any error in the admission of the testimony was harmless. First, because it was cumulative to other evidence properly admitted at trial and, second, because the testimony was insubstantial in view of the evidence presented of Petitioner’s guilt such that it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. See State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (Ct. App. 1996) (stating that error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict).

Any error in admitting the pediatrician’s testimony was harmless because it was merely cumulative to other testimony either un-objected to or specifically elicited by Petitioner at trial. State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 247 S.E.2d 443 (1978) (stating that admission of improper evidence is harmless when it is cumulative to other, unobjected-to testimony). The testimony of the pediatrician respecting the identity of the perpetrator was cumulative to testimony offered without objection from Officer Fraser indicating that, based upon his investigation and interviews, Petitioner was identified as the suspect. Petitioner’s identity as the perpetrator was also explored by Petitioner on cross-examination of Fraser. (R. pp. 54–55; 61–62; 78). It is also cumulative to the testimony of the pediatric nurse practitioner which was elicited without

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